Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 5, n. 1 (2015) – Indignation, Socio-economic Inequality and the Role of Law

ISSN: 2079-5971

The Canadian Wheat Board, Socio-economic Vulnerability and the Neo-liberal State

JANE MATTHEWS GLENN*

Matthews Glenn, J., 2015. The Canadian Wheat Board, Socio-economic Vulnerability and the Neo-liberal State. *Oñati Socio-legal Series* [online], 5 (1), 135-161. Available from: http://ssrn.com/abstract=2570821



Abstract

The Canadian Prairies is one of the world's largest breadbaskets. But its location in the centre of the country, far from world markets, increases farmers' vulnerability to the middle-men who ship, handle and market their grain. To protect them, the federal government set up the Canadian Wheat Board in 1935 and gave it monopoly marketing powers in 1943. However, these monopoly powers came increasingly under attack as a market-driven, neo-liberal agenda of free trade, small government, privatization and deregulation gained a hold in the 1980s in Canada, as elsewhere. In 2011, Canada's Conservative-led government adopted the controversial *Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act* ending the Board's monopoly powers. This legislation is controversial not so much for what it does as for how it was done.

This paper explores the possible effects of this on Prairie grain farmers. It compares the functioning of an 'open' (or private) market with the CWB's 'controlled' market; it describes the neo-liberal challenges to the CWB's monopoly since the 1980s; and it questions the promise of 'marketing freedom' under the new *Act*. It concludes with a consideration of several over-arching concerns, including the state of parliamentary democracy and the rule of law in Canada.

Key words

Canadian Wheat Board; grain marketing; neo-liberalism; farmer vulnerability

Resumen

Las praderas de Canadá son uno de los graneros más grandes del mundo. Pero su ubicación en el centro del país, lejos de los mercados mundiales, aumenta la

^{*} Emeritus Professor at the Faculty of Law and School of Urban Planning, and a Member of the Centre for Human Rights and Legal Pluralism, McGill University, Montreal, Canada: she is also an Associate Member of the McGill School of Environment. Faculty of Law. McGill University. Chancellor Day Hall. 3644 Peel Street. Montreal. Quebec. Canada H3A 1W9 jane.glenn@mcgill.ca



Article resulting from the paper presented at the workshop *Indignation, Socio-economic Inequality and the Role of Law* held in the International Institute for the Sociology of Law, Oñati, Spain, 30-31 May 2013, and coordinated by Jane Matthews Glenn (McGill University), Anneke Smit (University of Windsor) and Véronique Fortin (University of California, Irvine).

This paper is a substantially revised version of an earlier paper, entitled "State Trading Enterprises: The curious story of the Canadian Wheat Board", presented at the XIIth Congress of Agrarian Law, Slovak University of Agriculture, Nitra, Slovakia, June 2012.

vulnerabilidad de los agricultores frente a los intermediarios, que transportan, manejan y comercian con su grano. Para protegerlos, el gobierno federal creó en 1935 el Canadian Wheat Board (CWB) (Junta Canadiense del Cereal), y le otorgó el monopolio del comercio en 1943. Sin embargo, este poder se vio atacado por el avance de la agenda neoliberal de libre mercado, pequeño gobierno, privatización y desregulación que fue ganando fuerza en los años 80 en Canadá y el resto del mundo. En 2011, el gobierno conservador de Canadá adoptó la controvertida Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act (Ley de libre comercio para los productores de cereales), que acabó con el monopolio de la junta. Esta legislación es controvertida, no tanto por lo que hace, sino por cómo se hizo.

Este artículo explora los posibles efectos de esta ley sobre los productores de cereales de la pradera. Compara el funcionamiento de un mercado "abierto" (o privado) con el mercado "controlado" por la CWB; describe los desafíos neoliberales frente al monopolio de la CWB desde la década de 1980; y cuestiona la promesa de la "libertad de mercado" bajo la nueva ley. Concluye con la consideración de diversas preocupaciones globales, incluyendo el estado de la democracia parlamentaria y el estado de Derecho en Canadá.

Palabras clave

Junta Canadiense del Cereal; mercado del cereal; neo-liberalismo; vulnerabilidad de los agricultores

Table of contents

1. Introduction	138
2. The issue	138
3. The event	141
4. The indignation	143
5. Conclusions	148
References	
Primary sources	152
Legislation	152
Regulations etc	153
Cases	153
Secondary sources	153

1. Introduction

The neo-liberal, or market-based, approach to governance promoted by international lending institutions, conservative think-tanks, right-wing politicians and others since at least the 1980s has as its hallmark withdrawal of the public sector from the provisions of services coupled with deregulation of the private sector activities which take its place. This is affecting the vulnerable in a wide variety of spheres, including Canadian Prairie grain farmers who, for reasons of climate and geography, are at the mercy of shippers, handlers and marketers of grain.

This paper looks at how previous Canadian governments helped to redress this socio-economic power imbalance by creating a government-run marketing agency, the Canadian Wheat Board (CWB), in 1935 and giving it monopoly powers in 1943. However, these monopoly powers came increasingly under question as the market-driven neo-liberal agenda of free trade, small government, privatisation, and deregulation gained a hold in the 1980s both internationally and in Canada. Controversial legislation, the *Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act*, ending the Board's monopoly powers has now been adopted and put in force, having survived a number of court challenges in the process.

What might be the effect of this on Prairie grain farmers? And will it affect all farmers equally, or are some more vulnerable than others?

2. The issue

Canadian Prairie grain farmers are economically vulnerable for two main reasons. One is climatic, as the Prairie breadbasket 1 is located at the northern limits of cultivable land, where the winters are long and hard and the summer growing seasons correspondingly short and intense. There is only one crop per year, much of which comes on the market at the same time: the result is a buyers' market. The second, and more important, reason for farmer vulnerability is geographic, as the Prairies are an agricultural enclave located in the middle of North America and far from both domestic and world markets. "Among world grain producers, Canada alone has such natural barriers between its grain growing lands and the oceans which give access to the world market" (Estey Commission 1998, p. 7).2 Their landlocked position means that farmers were, and still are, vulnerable to monopolistic behaviour by middlemen – grain storage and handlers (country or "line" elevators, 3 and port or "terminal" elevators), shippers (railroads, 4 ships), and marketers (grain merchants, grain exchanges) - who might act separately or might act in combination to limit competition. The federal government, which has primary constitutional responsibility in the area, early responded to a number of specific complaints about the handling and shipping of grain (e.g. unfair grading practices, high shipping rates), but shied away from becoming directly involved in the marketing of Prairie grains until forced to do so.

¹ Western Canada (the three Prairie provinces of Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta, plus the Peace River district of British Columbia) produces about 95% of Canada's wheat and barley (Parkinson 2005, p. 1).

² The Estey Commission (1998, p. 6-7) described the barriers as follows: "The grain-growing region is separated from the Pacific Ocean by the Cordilleran Highland [i.e. the Rocky Mountains], a mountainous region about 400 miles [645 km] wide, penetrated by treacherous narrow passes. Severe winter conditions reduce the capacity of the route to export through Vancouver. On the eastern side, the barrier is a 600-mile [965 km] wide belt of Precambrian rock, the Canadian Shield. The way through to the Atlantic, the St. Lawrence Seaway, is icebound for three to four months of the year."

³ These vertical structures, an American invention, were first introduced on the Prairies around 1880; their larger capacity and mechanized loading system [the actual elevator] made them more efficient than the more labour-intensive "flat" warehouses, which they rapidly replaced (McMordie 1988, p. 921). ⁴ Prairie attitude to the railroads was such that "[i]n time the CPR [Canada's first transcontinental railroad] was blamed for almost every catastrophe on the plains. The story about the settler whose crop was flattened by hail and then devoured by grasshoppers, shaking his fist at heaven and crying, 'God damn the CPR!' was not too far-fetched" (Black 1997, p. 5, citing Berton 1971, p. 255)

139

For much of its early history, therefore, Prairie grain was marketed solely by private traders on the open market (Millar Commission 1908, Fowke 1948). This trade was dominated by the major grain merchants, who controlled both buying and selling of Prairie grain through their ownership of country and port elevators and their control of the Winnipeg Grain Exchange. The smaller farm operations (about half of the total) had no choice but to sell directly to country elevators at harvest time as they needed the money to repay operating loans (the cost of seed, etc.), did not have enough on-farm storage capacity to allow them to sell more slowly, and did not produce enough to be able to transport their grain directly to port elevators (in "producer cars"). They were thus the most vulnerable and received the lowest price (the "street price") for their crop. Larger operations had the choice of selling their grain for a higher price by railcar loads ready for transport to port elevators (the "track price") or selling it for a still higher price at the port ready for shipping (the "spot price") (Irwin 2001, p. 91-92).

Trading grain is risky, as commodity prices can be volatile. Buyers try to limit the risks of lower than anticipated resale prices by purchasing at the lowest price possible so as to increase the differential (the "spread") between purchase price and anticipated sale price. And they can further limit (or "hedge") the risk of a drop in prices by locking in a resale price as soon as possible; this is done through a "futures contract" with the next buyer, who agrees to buy the grain on a given future date for an agreed price. The terms of these contracts were standardized and the contracts themselves became objects of trade, to be bought and sold on grain exchanges such as the Winnipeg Grain Exchange. 5 Purchasers were sometimes end-users (millers, brewers, etc.), sometimes grain merchants further hedging their risks, 6 and sometimes simply outsiders speculating on the rise or fall of grain prices (e.g. Santos 2010). The Winnipeg Grain Exchange, "one of the great futures markets of the world", was the central institution, both functionally and symbolically, of the open market system: "To the supporters of the open market system it stood as the symbol of all the virtues of free enterprise. To the grower it epitomized the hazards to which a freely moving price system may condemn a group of highly competitive producers in the marketing of their product" (Britnell and Fowke 1949, p. 628).

Farmers regarded the open market system as the "disorderly marketing" of grain and its functioning during and between the two World Wars supported this opinion (e.g. Ankli 1982). In World War I, massive crop failures in 1916 led the Allies to centralize grain purchasing, and showed how an organized, deep-pocketed player could create panic in the major grain exchanges by "cornering the market" in grain futures. Trading in futures was therefore suspended on the Winnipeg Grain Exchange – as elsewhere⁷ – in 1917 and not resumed until 1919. However, the volatility of the futures market was still such that trading was immediately resuspended and the first "Canadian Wheat Board", modelled on Australia's wartime example, was set up and given monopoly power to market the 1919 crop.8

Farmers were initially leery of the Board, but campaigned vigorously for its reinstatement after it was disbanded in 1920, especially when prices dropped

Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 5, n. 1 (2015), 135-161 ISSN: 2079-5971

⁵ The Winnipeg Grain Exchange was established in 1887 (as the Winnipeg Grain and Produce Exchange), and futures trading was introduced in 1904 (Santos 2010, p. 105).

⁶ Banks were heavily involved in financing the grain trade (planting, harvesting, storage, and transport), and required grain traders to hedge their positions as a condition of obtaining loans (Santos 2010, p. 105-106).

⁷ Reactions of the major grain-producing countries varied from country to country. Canada's response was to create a "Board of Grain Supervisors" with monopoly power over pricing, distribution between domestic and foreign markets, and sale to the Allies. Its operations ended with the 1918 crop year (Santos 2010, p. 106-109).

⁸ It was the chartered banks, which financed most operations, that insisted on continued government control. On the first CWB generally, see Britnell and Fowke (1949, p. 629-630), Menzies (1949, p. 30-48), Irwin (2001, p. 97-98), Santos (2010, p. 108-109).

sharply following the return to open marketing.9 The high point of the reinstatement campaign came in 1922, when Board proponents succeeded in getting the necessary legislative framework in place. But it proved impossible to find anyone to head the Board and proponents of orderly marketing therefore turned their full attention to cooperative marketing as an alternative solution. Producer-organized wheat pools, modelled on California's wartime example, 10 were set up first in Alberta (1923) and then in Saskatchewan and Manitoba (1924) (the "Pools"). The three Pools marketed the wheat through a single central selling agency (the "Canadian Co-operative Wheat Producers, Ltd"), which favoured direct selling to overseas purchasers rather than through middlemen on the Winnipeg Grain Exchange. For many, the Pools' appeal was thus one of "collective freedom", the idea that farmers "as a group, rather than the grain barons of Winnipeg, could control their destiny" (Levine 1987, p. 57). 11 The Pools were initially successful, marketing over half of Prairie wheat during the 1920s when wheat prices first rose and then remained relatively stable. But this success could not be maintained when prices began their drastic decline in 1929. Government bailouts (including putting the Pools under what was tantamount to receivership) were ultimately unsuccessful, and in 1935 the federal government again turned to the idea of a government-sponsored marketing board as a way to tide the market over a difficult

A second "Canadian Wheat Board" was thus set up in 1935 and it remained in place up to the present. However, the Board fared no better in competition with private traders than the Pools had, and on 27 September 1943 the government discontinued private trading in wheat on the Winnipeg Grain Exchange and gave monopoly marketing powers over it to the Board. The Board's mandate, originally limited to wheat, was extended to the other main crops (oats and barley – "coarse grains") in 1949, and its term, originally renewable every five years, was made permanent in 1967 (Dakers, Fréchette 1998). This second CWB remained as the sole marketing authority 13 for Prairie grains for almost 70 years. 14

The CWB's main function – like that of its predecessors, the first Wheat Board and the Pools – was to ensure an "orderly marketing" of Prairie grain by matching supply with demand throughout the crop year (and thus changing the emphasis from a buyer's to a seller's market). ¹⁵ It did so by applying two main principles. The first was price pooling under which farmers received a fixed initial payment (about 75% of the expected average resale price for the crop year) at the time of delivery and a final payment of their share of the actual average resale price throughout the

⁹ Part of the price drop is explained by the onset of a generalized depression in the early 1920s. On the debate between those favouring an open market under the aegis of the Winnipeg Grain Exchange and those favouring an orderly market under the aegis of a centralized selling body, see generally Earl (1992).

^{(1992).}To more on the California model, see Larson and Erdman (1962); see also generally Macpherson (1986).

<sup>(1986).

11</sup> In principle the Pools operated outside the Grain Exchange, but this did not always prove possible, particularly as the Pools began to purchase futures to keep the price of grain above their initial payment (Irwin 2001, p. 99). On the interrelationship between the Pools and the Exchange, see particularly Levine (1987), see also Patton (1937, p. 218-224).

¹² The specific catalyst for this change was the wartime need to control rapidly rising wheat prices, on the one hand, and to honour Canada's food supply commitments to the Allies effectively and efficiently, on the other (Ankli 1982, p. 277-278).

¹³ As a federally created body, the Board's jurisdiction was limited, for constitutional reasons, to international and inter-provincial marketing of grain; but intra-provincial marketing was virtually non-existent for practical reasons.
¹⁴ Prairie grains coming under the CWB's jurisdiction only ever included the historically important wheat,

¹⁴ Prairie grains coming under the CWB's jurisdiction only ever included the historically important wheat, barley and oats. More recently introduced crops, notably canola, were not brought under Board control. See the discussion preceding note 26.

¹⁵ The term "orderly marketing" is used but not defined in the Board's legislation. It has been described as "an attempt to move the flow of wheat into consumption in accordance with consumptive demands, and to bring about a stabilized market throughout the year in place of fluctuating markets with high prices at one time and low prices at another" (president of Manitoba Pool Elevator 1937, quoted in Levine 1987, p. 53, see also Irwin 2001, p. 96-97).

141

crop year), 16 so that all farmers received the same price for their grade of grain regardless of when it was actually sold during the year. The second principle was exclusivity of marketing powers (i.e. the Board's marketing monopoly), which became known as "single desk selling" because all grain farmers had to sell to the Board¹⁷ and all grain purchasers had to buy from the Board. It is single desk selling, in particular, that attracted the ire of neo-liberals.

3. The event

The main event in the push to end the Wheat Board's marketing monopoly was the adoption in 2011 of the Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act, but this was preceded by several neo-liberal-inspired preliminary skirmishes. Some came from outside Canada, and included a number of challenges, all unsuccessful, by Canada's trading partners (particularly the United States) to CWB operations as constituting trade-distorting practice in violation of Canada's treaty obligations under various free trade agreements (e.g. Mayes 2002, Furtan and van Melle 2004, p. 317-318, Goodloe 2004, Charlebois and Langenbacher 2007, p. 8, Tamini et al. 2010, p. 42-43). Others came from within Canada, and included an attempt to deregulate Canadian barley exports to the United States so as to enable the creation of a free trade-style "continental barley market". The catalyst for this was an increasing spread between American and Canadian feed prices, and farmer pressure led the then Progressive-Conservative government to adopt a regulation, effective 1 August 1993, ending the CWB's monopoly control over barley exports to the U.S. This was immediately challenged by the Saskatchewan Wheat Pool (by that time Canada's largest grain elevator company) and a short six weeks later, on 10 September, the regulation was struck down as being outside the powers of government under the Act (Saskatchewan Wheat Pool 1993). 19 The result of the short-lived deregulation was "a 40-day selling bonanza" (Carter and Loyns 1998, p. 82-83), 20 and its early end sparked the rise of a civil disobedience protest movement, "Farmers for Justice", who sought and got media attention by trucking ("running") wheat and barley across the border without a CWB export permit; this led to criminal charges and, in at least one case, a six-month jail term (R. v. McMechan 1996). 21 Disaffected farmers also mounted a constitutional challenge to the monopoly (Archibald et al. v. Canada 1997) on the grounds that it violated several of their rights under the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms.

Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 5, n. 1 (2015), 135-161 ISSN: 2079-5971

¹⁶ The initial payment was guaranteed by the federal government; and Board deducted its administrative expenses from the final payment (which inexplicably raised the ire of some neo-liberal opponents in the present debate). ¹⁷ And the Board had a concomitant obligation to buy from the farmer: *Canadian Wheat Board Act*, s.

³²⁽¹⁾⁽a).

¹⁸ Political leanings also played a part, as the Canadian Prime Minister at the time, Brian Mulroney – who had close ties to U.S. President Ronald Reagan and British Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher, in power at the same time - was a staunch supporter of free trade and Canadian signatory of both the Canada-US Free Trade Agreement (CUSTA, 1987) and the Canada-US-Mexico North America Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA 1992; in force 1994).

¹⁹ The Court held that the Canadian Wheat Board Act did not authorize a partial deregulation of grain (i.e. to the U.S. but not elsewhere): this could only be done by legislation. The Conservative government appealed this decision, but the appeal was dropped by the Liberals who formed the government after the general election of October 1993. ²⁰ Although the authors accept that the selling bonanza was not entirely due to deregulation, as serious

flooding in the mid-west US had distorted the entire U.S. feed market for several weeks. For a more pessimistic view of the long-term effect of a continental barley market on Canadian farmers, see Gray et al. (1993).

²¹ There were reportedly over 100 such cases of civil disobedience (Black 1997, p. 18). They were tried by summary conviction and the usual penalty was payment of a fine. McMechan (described by some as a "modern-day martyr") and other convicted protesters were recently ceremoniously pardoned in a government ceremony to mark the coming into force of the legislation ending of the CWB's monopoly (Payton 2012).

Although unsuccessful, the case is credited with bringing the debate over the Board's status as a single desk seller squarely into the legal arena.²²

The Liberal federal government responded to these concerns in 1998 by reforming the legislation to give farmers a stronger voice in the Wheat Board's operation in two major ways. ²³ One was to change the composition of the Board of Directors by adding ten farmer-elected members ("farmers elected by their peers") to the existing five government-appointed members. The other was to change the procedure for including or excluding particular grains from the CWB's mandate by requiring that the change be done by legislation rather than by simple regulation; and – more importantly in the present context – before introducing the requisite legislation, the Minister of Agriculture must have consulted with the CWB directors, on the one hand, and the producers of the grain in question must have voted in favour of the extension or exclusion in a referendum, on the other. These requirements were the focus of recent government attacks. ²⁴

In 2007, after its election as a minority government in 2006 and after holding a "controversial plebiscite" (Government of Manitoba 2007, Parliamentary Information and Research Service 2008, p. 5) of barley farmers, the neo-liberal Conservative federal government tried to exclude barley from the Board's mandate by regulation, not legislation, on the grounds that the Interpretation Act authorized the government to repeal existing regulations (i.e. the previously enacted regulation to include barley in the Board's mandate) by regulation, and that this narrow regulatory power co-existed with the wider legislative power. However, the CWB challenged this regulation before the Federal Court, which rejected the government's argument and declared the regulation invalid both at trial and on appeal (Canada (Wheat Board) 2007).25 The government responded by tabling legislation (Bill C-46, 3 March 2008) asserting its authority to exclude barley by regulation and doing away with the requirement for prior approval of the CWB and producers affected (Parliamentary Information and Research Service 2008).²⁶ However, this legislation "died on the order paper", in Canadian parliamentary parlance, when Parliament was dissolved and an election called in the fall of 2008.

The 2008 election again resulted in a minority Conservative government, and the Conservatives had to wait until the election of 2011 gave them the necessary majority to get legislation ending the CWB's single desk powers, the *Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act*, through Parliament successfully.

²² Archibald was brought by 22 individual plaintiffs plus the Alberta Barley Commission and the Western Barley Growers Association. Both the trial and appeal courts held that the legislation did not limit the applicants' rights (to equality, association and mobility) and that, in any event, the limitations would have been upheld under s. 1 of the *Charter* as constituting reasonable limits in a free and democratic society. In this regard, the courts noted that the argued "deleterious effects" on the appellants' rights "were outweighed by the salutary effects of the orderly marketing of wheat and barley under the CWB" (appeal, paras. 99 and 100).

²³ These reforms were based on 1996 recommendations of a nine-member Western Grain Marketing

These reforms were based on 1996 recommendations of a nine-member Western Grain Marketing Panel which the then Liberal government appointed to look at all aspects of Canadian grain marketing, including the role of the Canadian Wheat Board, together with 1990 recommendations of a Review Panel set up by the CWB. On the 1990 report, or "Steers Report" (Canadian Wheat Board 1990), see Skogstad (2005, p. 538) and Oleson (2002); the 1996 report no longer seems generally available.

See the discussion the text following note 33.

²⁵ Two actions were in fact brought, one by the Canadian Wheat Board and the other by a non-governmental group, the "Friends of the Canadian Wheat Board". The two actions were consolidated, with Manitoba and Saskatchewan intervening on behalf of the CWB and Alberta on behalf of the federal government. The trial decision was handed down on 31 July 2007 and that of the Court of Appeal on 26 February 2008.

²⁶ The legislation was tabled almost immediately following the Court of Appeal decision, on 3 March 2008. Parliament was dissolved on 7 September; and the election held on 14 October. Bill C-46 would also have imposed binding arbitration for commercial disputes between the CWB and grain producers and/or elevator operators, a disposition arguably contrary to s. 96 of the Constitution as constituting an ouster of the jurisdiction of the courts.

4. The indignation

My indignation is not particularly directed at the actual ending of the CWB's monopoly marketing powers, as its role is perhaps not as central as it once was. Wheat now represents less than 40% of total Prairie farm income rather than the almost 80% it did in 1950, as it has been replaced to a certain extent by other crops - canola, feed barley and pulse (e.g. peas, lentils) - introduced in the 1960s and 1970s to diversify farm production. Farmers chose to leave the marketing of these crops outside the CWB (e.g. Ewins 1996); they are thus sold on the open market, apparently without difficulty, and this supports the suggestion that farmers need not rely on the CWB (Furtan 2005, p. 96-97, 99). As well, younger farmers are reputedly better educated than their parents and grandparents, with more business savvy; and internet access makes them better informed. All of this may possibly be true.

My indignation is directed rather at the manner in which the monopoly was ended, and this indignation can be subsumed under three main headings: opposition silencing, voter suppression, and misleading advertising.

Opposition silencing runs like a thread through many of the actions of the government, and two early examples from October 2006 (i.e. shortly after the Conservatives were first elected) were directed at silencing the Board itself. The first was the issuance of a "Direction Order" to the Canadian Wheat Board on 5 October 2006 that it "not expend funds, directly or indirectly, on advocating the retention of its monopoly powers, including the expenditure of funds for advertising, publishing or market research" and that it "not provide funds to any other person or entity to enable them to advocate the retention of the monopoly powers of the Canadian Wheat Board" (Direction Order 2006). 27 The apparent catalyst for what has become known as the "gag order" (e.g. Dickerson 2010) was to prevent the CWB from campaigning in the up-coming barley plebiscite - while the government is said to have spent \$Can 1.2M advocating the end of the CWB monopoly during the campaign (Forsey and Enoch 2011). The Board's challenge of the Order was successful at trial, but overturned on appeal (Canada (Wheat Board) 2008). The trial judge, Hughes J., accepted that the Direction Order might have been appropriate if it addressed a reasonable concern that government funds were at risk, but its real purpose was "silencing the Wheat Board in respect of any promotion of a 'single desk' policy that it might do" (trial, paras. 39 and 46). In his view,

Where a statute has delegated powers to another body ... , the exercise of that power by the delegate must be in accordance with the purposes and objects of the Act notwithstanding any apparent broad or unrestricted nature of the delegated authority.

This is particularly so where the order, although apparently directed to one purpose, is really directed to a different purpose not within the scope of the enabling statute, properly construed. (trial, paras. 47 and 48)

The Court of Appeal, on the other hand, held that the "plain purpose" of the Order was to ensure that the Board not use its funds to advocate a mandate at odds with government policy, and this purpose was within the scope of the government's very broad delegated authority; moreover, compliance with a Direction Order was "deemed" by the Act to be in the best interest of the Board, so that spending funds to advocate in favour of the monopoly was deemed to be no longer in the Board's best interest (paras. 45-57). The second example of Board silencing was the dismissal of its long-standing President, a staunch supporter of the monopoly, for

Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 5, n. 1 (2015), 135-161 ISSN: 2079-5971

²⁷ The Order was enacted under s. 18 of CWB Act which provided that the Governor-in-Council [i.e. Cabinet] may, by order, direct the CWB with respect to "the manner in which any of its operations, powers and duties under the Act shall be conducted, exercised or performed".

refusing to advocate the government's position (as, in his view, he was answerable to the Board of Directors, not the government) (Financial Post 2006). The dismissal was clearly within the government's purview, as the president's term of office was "during pleasure" (*CWB Act*, s. 3.09(1)), but the Canadian tradition is that the senior administrative appointments are non political and do not change with each change of government.²⁸

Opposition silencing also occurred during the actual enactment of the legislation ending the Board's monopoly, as the government's invocation of closure both in the House of Commons and the Senate (Galloway 2011, Ward 2011) restricted parliamentary debate on the measure and silenced the voices of the members of the opposition.

Voter suppression is a form of opposition silencing, and signs of this appear both in the elections for farmer-directors and during the plebiscites. Elections for farmerdirectors were held once every two years, each time for five of the 10 elected directors. The 2006 and 2008 elections, which were hotly contested, are of most interest.²⁹ Government actions concern changes to voter eligibility, on the one hand, and elimination of third-party spending caps, on the other. As for voter eligibility, the first action of the government was to change the way voter lists were drawn up. This was done administratively, through the issuance of "Decisions" by the Minister in both 2006 and 2008 requiring persons who would previously have been automatically included on the lists to prove their entitlement to vote. 30 The Minister described this as ensuring the integrity of the voters list while opponents saw it as a ploy to suppress votes. "Friends of the Canadian Wheat Board", which took over the fight from the now silenced Board of Directors, challenged the 2008 Decision before the Federal Court, but the Court held both at trial and on appeal that the Minister acted within his authority (Friends of the CWB 2010) even though it was accepted on appeal that there was "no doubt" that the directive "changed the dynamics of the election" as it "resulted the disenfranchisement of some 16,577 producers with the following effect. Of the producers who automatically received a ballot, 49.9% responded. With respect to the 16,577 producers who had to apply for a ballot, only 1,618 ballots were cast, showing then a turnout of less than 10%". 31 A second way in which the government tried to limit voter eligibility was to restrict the right to vote for CWB directors to larger grain producers. This could not be done administratively, but rather required legislation. A first attempt in 2008 (Bill C-57, 27 May 2008) would have limited voting rights to those producing "at least 120 tonnes of grain in either of the two previous completed crop years"; however, this bill died on the order paper when the 2008 federal general election was called. A second, less restrictive, attempt in 2010 (Bill C-27, 14 May 2010) which did not proceed past first reading – would have put the limit at 40 tonnes.

These measures designed to restrict voter eligibility were accompanied by measures eliminating third-party spending caps. On 4 September 2008³² the government adopted a regulation eliminating a \$10,000 spending cap previously placed on third-party interveners in director elections, while retaining a \$15,000 spending cap on individual candidates (*Regulation* 2008). This change benefited the producer associations representing the large grain producers, who were supportive

_

²⁸ The dismissal was obviously linked to the CWB's challenge to the Direction Order (*Canada (Wheat Board)* 2008 (trial, para. 9, points 8-11); the Board challenged this action as part of the case, but this challenge was declared moot when the matter came to trial (trial, para.13f).

²⁹ The 2010 election seems to have been a pro forma event generating little interest (e.g. Haney 2010).
³⁰ The Decisions were adopted pursuant to s. 3.07 of Act which required the Board to "take any measures that the Minister may determine for the proper conduct and supervision of the election of directors", and were communicated in ministerial letter.

³¹ Para. 30 *per* Letourneau J.A., speaking for the Court. The 2006 Decision, issued in the middle of the campaign, is said to have affected almost 40% of those automatically included on the producer voting list up to then (Forsey and Enoch 2011, p. 3).

³² That is, three days before the general election was called (see note 26 above), which the government was not expected to win.

of ending the CWB's marketing monopoly, and exacerbated the spending imbalance between the two sides (those for and against the monopoly) created by the "gag order".

Voter suppression also occurred in the context of producer plebiscites. Each side accused the other of committing a number of procedural improprieties in the barley plebiscite of 2007, but it is the government's decision to introduce legislation (Bill C-18, 18 October 2011) ending the Board's marketing monopoly without holding a plebiscite that is most striking: holding no vote at all is the ultimate form of voter suppression. As we have seen, the legislative reform of 1998 responded to farmer pressure for a larger say in marketing decisions by requiring their collective consent to the introduction of legislation including or excluding grain from the Board's mandate. This was found in section 47.1 of the Act, which reads as follows (emphasis added):

- **47.1** The Minister shall *not cause to be introduced* in Parliament a bill that would *exclude* any kind, type, class or grade of wheat or barley, or wheat or barley produced in any area in Canada, from the provisions of Part IV [marketing monopoly], either in whole or in part, or generally, or for any period, or that would *extend* the application of Part III [compulsory pooling] or Part IV or both Parts III and IV to any other grain, *unless*
- (a) the Minister has consulted with the board about the exclusion or extension; and
- (b) the *producers of the grain have voted in favour* of the exclusion or extension, the voting process having been determined by the Minister.

The failure to follow this statutory requirement led to several court challenges. The best known is an application by the Friends of the Canadian Wheat Board to the Federal Court for a declaration that the Minister had violated the rule of law in introducing the legislation without the requisite producer consultation (*Friends of the CWB* 2011 ["rule of law" case]). The trial judge, Campbell J., rejected the government's narrow reading of the provision – that consultation was required only as to including or excluding particular grains from the Board's mandate, but not as to dismantling of the Board itself – and granted the requested declaration that the Minister's conduct was "an affront to the rule of law", which rule he identified as "a fundamental constitutional imperative" (para. 3 and 4). In so holding, Campbell J. quoted extensively from an Alberta Court of Appeal decision, *Reece v. Edmonton (City)*, which he described as a "most recent reminder of the rule of law":

The starting point is this. The greatest achievement through the centuries in the evolution of democratic government has been constitutionalism and the rule of law. The rule of law is not the rule by laws where citizens are bound to comply with the laws but government is not. ... Under the rule of law, citizens have the right to come to the courts to enforce the law as against the executive branch. ... When government does not comply with the law, this is not merely non-compliance with a particular law, it is an affront to the rule of law itself ..." (para. 3, emphasis added by Campbell J.)

However, Mainville J.A., speaking for the Court of Appeal, accepted the Minister's narrow reading of section 47.1 after canvassing its legislative history, including parliamentary statements; and while he acknowledged the importance of the democratic values reflected in the plebiscite requirement, he held that it could not trump the will of a democratically elected Parliament.³⁴ Other court challenges included an application to the Manitoba Court of Queen's Bench by eight of ten former directors of the CWB (*Oberg* 2012, filed after Campbell J.'s judgment but

³³ The Minister's position was that the 2011 general election had been consultation enough, and no further consultation was necessary.

³⁴ The technical legal issue in the case was whether the plebiscite requirement was a "manner and form" provision imposing enforceable procedural requirements on Parliament notwithstanding the general principle of Parliamentary sovereignty (see *Friends of the CWB* 2011, Fed. C.A. at paras. 82-87). The C.A. held it was not such a provision.

before the appeal judgment in the rule of law case) for an order granting an interlocutory injunction staying the entry in force of the *Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act* pending a final decision in the rule of law case.³⁵ However, the trial judge in *Oberg*, Perlmutter J., was of the view that notwithstanding the decision of Campbell J., the plaintiffs failed to meet the threshold requirement of showing there was a serious issue to be tried:

In the case at bar, the result turns on the construction of s. 47.1 of the CWB Act and on the legal consequence of the Minister not engaging s. 47.1 of the CWB Act prior to introducing the Bill. On the face of it, it is my view that the merits of the plaintiffs' case *are so wanting* that that the application for injunctive relief ought to be rejected on this ground alone. In my view, it has not been established that there is a serious issue to be tried (para. 29, emphasis added). ³⁶

Other challenges include two class actions, one announced on 9 February 2012 by a leading torts class action lawyer and seeking payment of \$15.4B for CWB assets (bought with farmer money) when it is dismantled (Canadian Press 2012), and the other announced on 15 February 2012 by the Friends of the CWB seeking to restore the single desk monopoly and claiming damages (of \$2B for money lost since the new legislation came into force and additional damages of \$17.5B if it is impossible to reinstate the single desk) for violation of the farmers' constitutional right to freedom of association (Canadian Wheat Board Class Action nd). Neither of these actions seems to be particularly active at the present time. The battle now appears to have been lost.

Finally, I am most indignant about the way the legislative change was presented to farmers, which smacks of misleading advertising. The change was advertised as ending the coercive powers of the CWB and giving farmers the freedom to chose when and to whom they will sell their grain. This is symbolized by the reform legislation's title, *Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act*. Who could possibly not be for freedom of choice and against coercion? Why should farmers not be able to choose between marketing their grain to private grain dealers on the "open market" and marketing it to a publicly owned body, the CWB, in a "controlled market"? The attraction of freedom to choose is illustrated by the (contested) results of the government-run 2007 barley plebiscite:

2007	Dadan	Dialata atta	Danida
ノロロノ	Bariev	Plebiscite	Results

	MB	SK	AB	вс	Overall
Retain single desk	50.6	45.1	21.4	42.3	37.8
Prefer option to market to CWB or other buyer of my choice	34.6	42.1	63.4	49.4	48.4
CWB should have no role in marketing barley	14.8	12.8	15.2	8.3	13.8

Source: Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada 2007

Freedom of choice was the most popular option, receiving 48.4% of the votes cast (and 63.4% in Alberta), but more farmers favoured the CWB monopoly (37.8%) than a solely private market (a mere 13.8%). How would farmers have voted if they had been asked to make the stark choice between the CWB's controlled market and the private sector's open market? How would the farmer's who chose the freedom of choice option have voted if there could be no freedom of choice? The overall results in the barley plebiscite suggest (but do not prove) that more would have voted for marketing through the CWB than through the private sector,

-

³⁵ In a similar vein, the then Leader of the Opposition formally requested the Governor General to delay assenting to the legislation (Taber 2011) but this request was refused. The legislation received Royal Assent on 15 December 2011, for entry into force on 1 August 2012.

³⁶ The plaintiffs were said to be appealing the *Oberg* decision, but there was no point in doing so after the Federal Court of Appeal's decision in the rule of law case.

³⁷ Statement of claim filed 15 February 2012 (*Dennis* 2012). This claim would seem to be precluded by the same grounds as the decision in *Archibald* (see note 22).

and this is borne out by the (contested) results of the CWB-run 2011 legislation plebiscite, which posed the starker question:

2011 Legislation Plebiscite Results

	Wheat	Barley	Overall
Market all through CWB single desk system	61.8%	51.1%	59.1%
Market all through open-market system	38.2%	48.9%	40.9%

Source: Dales 2011

The legislative title – *Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act* – promises farmers the freedom to choose between a controlled and an open market: that is to say, a "dual market". However, both economic theory and historical experience point to the vulnerability of price pooling when competing with an open, or private, market. Economic theory explains that the averaging of prices practiced by a pooling agency means that pool price changes always lag behind market price changes, and farmers behave opportunistically in deciding where to deliver their grain: in times of rising prices, pool prices will be lower than the market price and farmers will prefer to sell on the open market; but in times of falling prices, pool prices will be higher than the market price, farmers will choose to sell to the pool, and the pooling agency will suffer substantial losses if the market price falls below the amount of the initial payment (Fulton and Vercammen 1996, Fulton 2006).

[D]ual marketing will not provide farmers with a choice. We believe a pooling system cannot effectively operate alongside a cash market system. Instead, attempts to introduce a dual marketing system will either lead to very small volumes being pooled or to substantial losses in the pool. As a consequence we do not think farmers will have the choice of selling either on a pooling basis or on a cash market basis. The pooling option will disappear and only the open market option will exist. (Fulton and Vercammen 1996, p. 1)

In other words, economic theory suggests that price pooling is sustainable only when the selling agency has monopoly powers. And economic theory is borne out by historical experience, as illustrated by the difficulties faced by voluntary pooling in the volatile economic period between the two World Wars, when both the Wheat Pools and the voluntary Canadian Wheat Board found it difficult if not impossible to navigate between the Scylla of setting the initial payment too high and being unable to repay its financial backers and the Charybdis of setting it too low and not attracting grain deliveries. Patton (1937, p. 222) describes the Pool experience:

Under such conditions what at the time may have appeared to be a reasonably conservative initial payment may prove to be in excess of the eventually realized net average return. If, on the other hand, the initial schedule is set at such level as to guard against such contingency, it is almost bound to be so small as to penalize unduly contracting pool members and to preclude deliveries on a voluntary basis.

And Gislason (1959, p. 585-586) makes substantially the same point about the voluntary CWB:

When the price of wheat on the Winnipeg Grain Exchange was higher than the minimum price for wheat delivered to the Wheat Board, the wheat producers sold most of their wheat to the private elevator companies. When the price on the open market was lower, the farmers delivered most of their wheat to the Wheat Board.³⁸

In sum, the government presented its *Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act* as freeing farmers from the obligation to market their grain solely through the CWB and giving them the freedom to choose between the Board's pooling approach and the open market's individualist approach. But the economics are such that the possibility of making this choice will not last: the pooling option will not survive,

³⁸ A document prepared under the auspices of the Canadian government is even more categorical: "In practice, farmers sold to the CWB *only* when the set price was above the market price" (Parliamentary Information and Research Service 2008, p. 1, emphasis added).

and the open market system will be the only marketing option available. As Fulton and Vercammen put it (1996, p. 1), the choice between a controlled and an open market "is not one that farmers can make each day independently of what other farmers do" but rather "one that western farmers must make as a group". ³⁹ The government did not make this clear to farmers, and the CWB was prevented from spending the money to do so.

5. Conclusions

148

This consideration of Canadian Prairie grain marketing and deregulation of the Canadian Wheat Board raises three overarching concerns. One is whether the now fully government-controlled CWB will be viable in the long-term (e.g. Fulton 2011, Appendix). Perhaps it will continue to exist as a player in the open market. The government has not treated it particularly generously - allowing the Board only one year to make the transition from its monopoly position to that of one of many participants in a highly competitive open market, giving it only five years at best to prove itself on the open market prior to privatization, and providing it with very limited financial assistance during this period. 40 The revamped Board is doing its best. Firstly, its announced goal is to pool a third of Prairie grains (Nickel 2012) and, to this end, is offering producers a range of contract options, both cash and pool (including ordinary and "futures choice" pools), for a wide variety of grains, with varying delivery dates, pricing options, opt-out possibilities and so on (CWB 2013b). However, agricultural commodity prices are volatile and, as we have seen, pools are particularly vulnerable to this volatility. Will the revamped CWB be more successful than its predecessors in dealing with this volatility either during the probationary period or subsequently? It is attempting to convince farmers to pool in a time of rising prices by offering a variety of pools with flexible pricing and opt-out possibilities, and it will be interesting to see to what extent this affects the integrity of pooling in practice. But the CWB has not yet indicated how it will protect itself from the danger of financial loss from paying farmers too high an initial payment in times of falling prices. Will it simply absorb the loss? Or will it require farmers to repay the over-payment? Or will it, as seems likely, follow the example of the privatized Australian Wheat Board in requiring farmers to purchase insurance against various commercial risks including the risk of having to repay the Board part of its initial payment (a risk which materialized for the 2010-2011 pool) (AWB 2012), thereby increasing the administrative costs paid by farmers? Secondly, the revamped Board has entered into delivery agreements with all major grain storage and handling companies (CWB News 2012). But these companies are also the major grain merchants and hence the CWB's direct competitors, with most to gain from the CWB's failure to succeed: one wonders how favourable the terms of these delivery agreements will be over time. Finally, the revamped Board has begun to plan for privatization at the end of the five-year probationary period, if not sooner, and is offering farmers a potential ownership share for grain delivered (\$5.00 for every tonne delivered under a 2013-2014 contract, for example) (CWB 2013a). However, other attempts at providing ongoing farmer-ownership or control after privatization - the Saskatchewan Wheat Pool and the Australian Wheat Board being the two best-known examples 41 - have ultimately failed, and it is difficult to see how the CWB will be an exception.

Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 5, n. 1 (2015), pp-pp ISSN: 2079-5971

³⁹ It is also a choice "that must be adhered to for a substantial period of time", because of the costs of replacing one system by the other (Fulton and Vercammen 1996 1).

⁴⁰ This contrasts both to the more generous treatment of Australian Wheat Board on deregulation (Boaitey 2013) and to the identified needs of the CWB (CBC News 2011).

⁴¹ The Saskatchewan Wheat Pool became a publicly traded company in 1996, with voting shares being retained by farmers and non-voting shares trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (so that it retained farmer management but was under investor ownership); farmer management proved unsuccessful and the Pool turned to a private-sector CEO; it merged with the other Prairie Pools in 2007 and (under the name Viterra) was bought by an international commodity conglomerate (Swiss-based American-owned Glencore) in 2012 – with Viterra's CEO said to have received some \$37.5 million as a result (Silcoff

149

Another overarching concern is how Canadian Prairie grain farmers will fare in a private market (e.g. Fulton 2011, Nickel 2011). As we have seen, Prairie grain farmers advocated the creation and supported the continued existence of the Canadian Wheat Board for so long because of the vulnerability they felt when marketing their grain through the private sector. The degree of private sector concentration is now such that they should feel equally, if not more, vulnerable today. They are vulnerable in three main areas. A first is the area of grain handling and purchasing, as the end of the Wheat Board's monopoly means the major grain handlers will become the major purchasers of Prairie grain. The co-operatively owned Pools which previously handled much of Prairie grain have all been privatized and a small number of very large international conglomerates dominate the grain trade today (Fulton 2011, p. 7-8). Some of these conglomerates are Canadian-based (e.g. Richardson, Agrium), but most are foreign-owned; most specialize in the agricultural sector, but some deal with a wide range of commodities (notably the "vast, tentacular Glencore" (The Economist 2013a) which acquired Viterra, the corporate persona of the privatized Pools, in 2012 in anticipation of the end of the CWB's monopoly). 42 Private sector companies are of necessity profit-driven, and grain handlers seek to maximize their profits both by reducing expenses, such as through closing the less profitable small-town grain elevators and consolidating delivery points to fewer, larger elevators, and by increasing profits, such as through maximizing the spread between their purchase price (the money paid to farmers) and sale price (the money received from buyers): as one blogger colourfully put it, "the money that the CWB used to send back to farmers to put in their jean pockets" now ends up in "the vest pockets of the grain traders" as profit (Gruending 2012, response to comment; see also e.g. Waldie 2012b).

A second area of farmer vulnerability is in regard to grain shipping. There are two rail lines in Canada with the capabilities of getting grain to market, the Canadian Pacific (CP) and the Canadian National (CN), and the distance separating them is such that there is no real competition between them. The CP has always been privately owned, but the CN was government-owned until it was privatized in 1995; both rail lines now have American investment funds as major shareholders; and the operations of both have been (CN) or are in the process of being (CP) radically restructured to reduce costs (fewer but longer trains, fewer workers, fewer branch lines, fewer freight cars - including producer cars, etc.) (e.g. The Economist 2013b). 43 Investors are happy, but workers and many shippers are less so (e.g. Agricultural Producers Association of Saskatchewan 2010). The recently adopted Fair Rail Freight Service Act, providing for arbitration⁴⁴ if the parties cannot agree over a contract of services, is contested by the railways and accepted by shippers as better-than-nothing at best (e.g. Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development 2013, Dawson 2013, Wilson 2013). And what about increasing revenue? The rates railways may charge for shipping Prairie grain have been regulated in one form or another since 1897,45 with the present system being an annually adjustable

Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 5, n. 1 (2015), 135-161 ISSN: 2079-5971

^{2012).} As for the Australian Wheat Board, it was deregulated for the (small) domestic market in 1989, and became a farmer-owned private company (AWB Limited) in 1999; it was acquired by a larger international grain company (Canadian-based Agrium) in 2010, two years after Australia's (large) export market was deregulated in 2008, and was taken over by the largest international grain company (USbased Cargill) in 2011 (Boaitey 2013).

⁴² See note 41. The firm is even more vast and tentacular after Glencore merged with mining and mineral conglomerate, Xstrata, in May 2013 to form GlencoreXstrata (2013).

⁴³ Both railways hired the same CEO for this - first CN, then CP following a "brutal putsch" (McClearn 2013) led by CP's largest shareholder, a New York-based hedge fund, in 2012.

⁴ Note that the government would also have required arbitration rather than litigation to resolve disputes between elevator operators and/or producers and the CWB (Bill C-46), a requirement open to

question under s. 96 of the Constitution: see note 26 above)

45 Under the "Crow's Nest Pass Agreement" of 1897, the CPR agreed to fixed freight rates "in perpetuity" on eastbound grain, in return for a federal construction subsidy of a rail line giving it access to a rich mineral area in southern British Columbia. These rates (with some changes) were extended to the CNR in 1925, and to westbound shipments in 1927 and northbound in 1931 (Anderson 1991, p. 31). Over

"revenue cap" imposed on railway earnings from Prairie grain. 46 But the revenue cap is increasingly contested (e.g. Frontier Centre for Public Policy 2012, Dawson 2011), and some analysts predict rate increases of anywhere between 25-50% if it is removed (Sorensen 2011, CWB Alliance 2012). 47 The CWB was in a position to provide grain farmers with a measure of protection against monopolistic behaviour by the railways, notably in regard to railcar allocation and freight rates, but this protection is now lost (Fulton 2011, p. 11-14, 19-20).

And a third area of vulnerability is the operation of the grain exchanges. The Winnipeg Grain Exchange (renamed the "Winnipeg Commodity Exchange" in 1972) became a wholly owned subsidiary of U.S.-based conglomerate InterContinental Exchange (ICE) in 2007 (and was renamed "ICE Futures Canada" the following year). The parent ICE was established in 2000 as an electronic exchange dealing mainly in energy products; it has since branched out into financial and agricultural products, and the Winnipeg exchange is but one of its recent acquisitions. Consolidation of exchanges is thus one issue. Another is the length of the trading day, as electronic trading does not have the same physical constraints as the more traditional 'open-cry' trading. Last year ICE triggered a controversial movement favouring non-stop electronic trading for up to 22-hour days; this was popular with hedge funds and high-frequency traders, but farm groups complained that it would increase price volatility as traders would not have the necessary down-time to assess key price data issued at fixed times each day (Waldie 2012a, Polansek 2013); some reduction did occur, and at the time of writing ICE Futures Canada makes trading available for 18 continuous hours (from 19:00 to 13:15 the next day). This seemingly minor issue is important to Prairie farmers because some futures contracts allow farmers to lock in their price after delivery at a later date of their choosing: long trading hours, price volatility and slow internet connections increases the uncertainty of this choice. Price volatility is also said to result from the increased participation since the mid-2000s of the "deep-pocketed" pension and index funds, such as the Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan, in the agricultural commodity markets to diversify their investment portfolios and improve returns. This is said to have contributed to market turmoil in 2008 (which U.S. farmers, despite their long experience selling on the open market, likened to playing the "blackjack tables in Las Vegas") and 2012 (Stewart and Waldie 2008, p. 4, DuPaul 2013a, p. 3). These deep-pocketed investors are reportedly leaving the market and prices falling accordingly, but how far and for how long is another question (DuPaul 2013b). As one observer suggests, the commodity exchanges are a better investment than the commodities they sell: "these exchanges thrive on volatility whether it is a buying frenzy or a selling frenzy" (Berman 2008).

Vulnerability, therefore, of Prairie grain farmers to grain handlers and traders, transporters and commodity exchanges. But some farmers are more vulnerable than others (Fulton 2011, p. 19, Pitts 2011). Particularly vulnerable are: older farmers who lack the expertise, particularly computer skills and affordable internet access, to be able to market their grain effectively; smaller farmers who do not have the necessary bargaining power and resources to be able to strike the best deals; farmers located in remote areas, too far from American markets to be able to truck grain there and far from the main rail lines (and thus dependent on branch lines at risk of closing); and farmers whose delivery point is serviced by only one

time, these rates were not enough to cover railway costs and the system has been gradually changed in the railways' favour.

⁴⁶ Excess revenues have, since 2000, been invested in the Western Grain Research Fund's endowment fund. Some \$3.5M was paid in for each of the crop years 2005-06 and 2006-07, and an astonishing \$66.6M for 2007-2008; the payments for other crop years have been much more modest (Western Grains Research Foundation nd).

⁴⁷ "Without the single desk CWB, freight rates will move closer to American levels. 'The first sign of this was the recent effective takeover of CP Rail by New York based Pershing Square Capital Management based on their expectations of increasing revenue from the company', explained Gehl" (CWB Alliance 2012).

grain elevator company. Many of these farmers are expected to cease farming, and their farms will be either consolidated into larger operations or abandoned.

A final overarching concern is the state of parliamentary democracy and the rule of law in Canada. This is a question of growing concern here as elsewhere, and talk of a "democratic deficit" or even an "elected dictatorship" is increasingly found not only in the media (e.g. Russell 2011, Hill 2012) but also in academic publications (e.g. Smith 1971, Savoie 1999, Bakvis 2001, Malloy 2004, White 2008, Aucoin et al. 2011). This is a large topic, too large to be discussed in detail, but the procedure to deregulate the Wheat Board illustrates some aspects of it. The Prime Minister was clearly a strong proponent of ending the Wheat Board monopoly – as doing so fits his neo-liberal political philosophy and is popular with his southern Alberta political base 48 – and the Westminster model of parliamentary government 49 gives him a good deal of the independent power necessary to do so. This model accepts that the executive, notably the Prime Minister, retains the right to exercise a number of the "prerogative powers" exercised by the Crown prior to the advent of democracy. 50 Chief amongst these, in the present context, is the power of appointment, which runs like a thread through all branches of government.

As for the executive, the Prime Minister selects the Ministers responsible for the various government departments (e.g. Agriculture and Agri-foods Canada) and these Ministers together make up the Cabinet, the executive committee of Parliament: 51 the Ministers are thus beholden to him for their position and the current Prime Minister is known for keeping them on tight rein. This helps explain why the Minister of Agriculture was willing to issue ministerial Decisions changing the way voter lists were drawn up in the midst of elections of CWB farmerdirectors. 52 It also helps to explain the various Cabinet documents limiting the ability of the CWB to protect its monopoly position, notably the 2006 Direction Order prohibiting the spending of funds to advocate for it (the "gag order") and the 2008 Regulation eliminating the third-party spending cap in farmer-director elections.⁵³ Moreover, the Prime Minister controls the appointment of the Deputy Ministers (i.e. the top civil servants responsible for each government department), as well as other senior administrators such as the President of the Canadian Wheat Board. This control over the composition of the executive and senior civil servants means that the Prime Minister faces little, if any, opposition to the implementation of his policies. And the dismissal of the CWB President who opposed his policies⁵⁴ illustrates the dangers of opposition.

As for the legislature, the Prime Minister appoints the chairs of the Standing Committees charged with examining proposed legislation in detail, thereby guarding a measure of control over the committee process. 55 He maintains

ISSN: 2079-5971

Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 5, n. 1 (2015), 135-161

⁴⁸ The current Prime Minister was elected in an Alberta constituency, and Alberta is the most neo-liberal province in Canada. Its farmers are more opposed to the Wheat Board monopoly than those of

Saskatchewan and Manitoba.

49 Under a Westminster-style of government, the executive and the legislature are fused, in that the members of the executive (the Prime Minister and other members of Cabinet) are themselves elected members of Parliament, each representing their own riding as MPs, as well as being Ministers responsible for different departments.

⁵⁰ "Crown prerogative is a holdover from the days before the Glorious Revolution of 1688 and represents the monarchial power not stripped from the Crown" (Banfield and Flynn 2015, p. 137, see also Lagassé

⁵¹ Formally, the Prime Minister recommends his choices to the Governor-General, who makes the formal appointment; Cabinet is thus technically the "Governor-General-in-Council". See text at note 30.

⁵³ See text at note 27 and following note 32. Other examples include Cabinet's willingness in 2006 to deregulate the CWB's monopoly power by regulation, when legislation was clearly required: see text preceding note 25.

⁵⁴ See text at note 28.

⁵⁵ Committee membership reflects House of Commons membership, so that when the government is in minority in the House, it is also in minority on the Committees. When the current government was in minority from 2006 to 2011, one way it controlled the committee process was by issuing a manual for its MPs "on how to stonewall troublesome parliamentary committees", which White (2008, p. 11) cites as

discipline over the rank-and-file members of his party (the "backbenchers") in the elected lower chamber (the House of Commons) partially through the carrot of Cabinet appointments and Committee chairmanships and partially the stick of expulsion from the party caucus for opposing his views. And he appoints the members of the non-elected upper chamber (the Senate), which further tightens his control over the legislative process. ⁵⁶ This helps explain the easy passage the *Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act* had through Parliament.

As for the judiciary, finally, the most important courts in Canada (the "superior courts of general jurisdiction") are staffed by federally appointed judges. These include the trial and appeal level courts in each province as well as the Supreme Court of Canada. The Prime Minister selects the Supreme Court judges as well as the Chief Justices and Associate Chief Justices of the provinces (e.g. Prime Minister of Canada 2013) while the Minister of Justice selects the rest. The current Prime Minister is said to favour a "workmanlike" bench, one that will "do little to inspire and promote the development of law" (Fine 2013). With two notable exceptions, this describes the approach taken by the judges in the decisions relating to deregulation of the Canadian Wheat Board's monopoly. ⁵⁷

As a leading constitutionalist has put it (Leclair 2013), "In reality, in the eyes of the Harper government, our institutions do not merit any intelligent reflection whatsoever. They are useful only to the extent that they serve the interests of the party. From the point of view of democracy, federalism and the rule of law, this is tragic". He was speaking of the government's treatment of the institutions of the Supreme Court of Canada and the Senate. However, his observations about democracy and the rule of law apply with equal force to its treatment of other institutions, such as the Canadian Wheat Board.

References

Primary sources

Legislation

Canadian Wheat Board Act, 1935, S.C. 1935, c. 54 [R.S.C. 1985, c C-24].

Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, being Part I of the Constitution Act, 1982, Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (UK), 1982, c. 11.

Fair Rail Freight Service Act, S.C. 2013, c. 31.

Interpretation Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. I-21.

Marketing Freedom for Grain Farmers Act, S.C. 2011, c. 25.

- Bill C-46, 3 March 2008. Act to amend the Canadian Wheat Board Act and chapter 17 of the Statutes of Canada, 1998 (2nd Sess., 39th Parl., 2007-2008).
- Bill C-57, 27 May 2008. Act to amend the Canadian Wheat Board Act (election of directors) (2nd Sess., 39th Parl., 2007-2008).
- Bill C-27, 14 May 2010. Act to amend the Canadian Wheat Board Act (election of directors) (3rd Sess., 40th Parl., 2010-2011).

Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 5, n. 1 (2015), pp-pp ISSN: 2079-5971

an example of "the oftentimes cavalier, pernicious attitudes exhibited by governments towards Parliament".

⁵⁶ In principle, Senators hold office until the age of 75, which means that each new Prime Minister faces a legacy of past appointments by other Prime Ministers, perhaps from a different party. However, Harper has been in office long enough to make enough appointments to ensure control of the Senate. He favours patronage appointments to party loyalists.

⁵⁷ The exceptions are two trial-level judgment, one by Hughes, J. in the "gag order" case (see text following note 27) and the other by Campbell, J. in the "rule of law" case (see text preceding note 34). In contrast, Mainville, J.A. – who wrote the appeal-level judgment in the "rule of law" case – is now said to be being positioned by the Prime Minister to be eligible to fill an up-coming vacancy on the Supreme Court of Canada (Fine 2014).

Regulations etc.

- Archibald et al. v. Canada [1997] 3 FC 335 (Fed. Ct, Trial Div.); aff"d [2000] 4 FC 479 (Fed. C.A.)
- Canada (Wheat Board) 2007. Canada (Wheat Board) v. Canada (Attorney General); Friends of the Canadian Wheat Board et al. v. Canada (Attorney General) 2007 FC 807 (Fed. Ct, Trial Div.), aff'd 2008 FCA 76 (Fed. C.A.), leave to appeal refused [2012] S.C.C.A. No. 383 (Supreme Ct of Canada) [full deregulation "barley monopoly" case].
- Canada (Wheat Board) 2008. Canada (Wheat Board) v. Canada (Attorney General) 2008 FC 769 (Fed. Ct, Trial Div.), rev'd 2009 FCA 214 (Fed. C.A.), leave to appeal refused (Supreme Ct of Canada, No. 33334, 21 Jan. 2010) [http://www.scc-csc.gc.ca/case-dossier/info/dock-regi-eng.aspx?cas=33334] ["gag order" case].

Cases

- Dennis 2012. Dennis v. The Queen, Fed. Ct File No. T-35612.
- Direction Order 2006. "Canadian Wheat Board Direction Order", SOR/2006-247, 5 October 2006, Canada Gazette, Part II, Vol. 140, No. 21, p. 1546.
- Friends of the CWB 2010. Friends of the Canadian Wheat Board v. Canada (Attorney General) 2010 FC 104 (Fed. Ct, Trial Div.), aff'd 2011 FCA 101 (Fed. C.A.) [election of directors "voters list" case].
- Friends of the CWB 2011. Friends of the Canadian Wheat Board et al. v. Canada (Attorney General) et al. 2011 FC 1432 (Fed. Ct, Trial Div.), rev'd 2012 FCA 183 (Fed. C.A.), leave to appeal refused (Supreme Ct of Canada, No. 34937, 17 Jan. 2013) ["breach of s. 47.1" case].
- Oberg et al. v. Canada (A-G) 2012 MBQB 64 (Man., Ct. of Queen's Bench) ["interlocutory injunction" case].
- R. v. McMechan [1996] M.J. No. 476 (Man. Prov'l Ct, unreported); varied (1997) 117 Man. Rep. (2d) 291 (Man. Queen's Bench); appeal dismissed (1998) 126 Man. Rep. (2d) 302 (Man. C.A.); leave to appeal refused [1998] S.C.C.A. No. 221 (Supreme Ct of Canada).
- Reece v. Edmonton (City), 2011 ABCA 238 (Alta. C.A.).
- Regulation 2008. Regulations amending the Regulations respecting the Election of Directors of the Canadian Wheat Board, SOR/2008-255, 4 September 2008, Canada Gazette, Part II, Vol. 142, No. 19, p. 1944.
- Saskatchewan Wheat Pool v. Canada (Attorney General) 1993. File no. T-1962-93. Fed.Ct, Trial Div. (unreported) [partial deregulation "continental barley market" case].

Secondary sources

- Agricultural Producers Association of Saskatchewan, 2010. Submission to the Rail Freight Service Review [online]. Regina: Agricultural Producers Association of Saskatchewan. Available from: http://www.tc.gc.ca/media/documents/policy/071-agriculture-producers-
 - <u>association-of-saskatchewan-eng.pdf</u> [Accessed 21 February 2015].
- Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, 2007. Plebiscite Results. *Backgrounder* [online], March, 2007. Available from:

 http://www.agr.gc.ca/cb/index_e.php?s1=ip&page=ip60908a_bg1 [Accessed 10 August 2013].

- Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development, 2013. The Fair Rail Freight Service Act. Agri-News [online], 15 July. Available from: http://www1.agric.gov.ab.ca/\$department/newslett.nsf/all/agnw21077 [Accessed 21 September 2013].
- Anderson, C.W., 1991. *Grain: The entrepreneurs*. Winnipeg: Watson and Dwyer Publishing.
- Ankli, R.E., 1982. The Decline of the Winnipeg Futures Market. *Agricultural History* 56 (1), 272-286.
- Aucoin, P., Jarvis, M.D. and Turnbull, L., 2011. *Democratizing the Constitution: Reforming responsible government*. Toronto: Emond Montgomery.
- AWB, 2012. *Underwriting* [online]. Melbourne: Cargill. Available from: http://www.awb.com.au/growers/finance/harvestfinance/underwritingprotection/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Bakvis, H., 2001. Prime Minister and Cabinet in Canada: An autocracy in need of reform?. *Journal of Canadian Studies*, 35 (4), 60-79.
- Banfield, A. and Flynn, G., 2015. Activism or Democracy? Judicial review of prerogative powers and executive action. *Parliamentary Affairs* 68 (1), 135-153.
- Berman, D., 2008. Easier than digging it out of the ground. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail*, 31 May, p. B7.
- Berton, P., 1971. *The Last Spike: The great railway 1881-1885*. Toronto: McClelland and Stewart.
- Black, A.J., 1997. Winnowing the Chaff: Canadian grain trade and international law. *American University International Law Review* [online], 13 (1), 1-70. Available from: http://digitalcommons.wcl.american.edu/auilr/vol13/iss1/1/ [Accessed 21 January 2015].
- Boaitey, A., 2013. Grain Market Deregulation: A case study of the Canadian and Australian wheat boards. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 13 (3), 282-287.
- Boyd, M., 2011. Removal of the Canadian Wheat Board Monopoly: Future changes for farmers and the grain industry. *Frontier Centre for Public Policy. Policy Series* [online], 115. Available from: https://www.fcpp.org/files/1/PS115 WheatBrd.pdf [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Bracken Commission 1959. *Report of the Commission of Inquiry into the Distribution of Railway Box* Cars, Sessional paper no. 187a-1959. Ottawa: Dept of Trade and Commerce.
- Britnell, G.E. and Fowke, V.C., 1949. Development of Wheat Marketing in Canada. *Journal of Farm Economics*, 31, 627-642.
- Canadian Press, 2012. Canadian Wheat Board [class action] lawsuit seeks \$15.4 billion for farmers. *The Huffington Post* [online], 1 September. Available from: http://www.huffingtonpost.ca/2012/01/09/canadian-wheat-board-lawsuit_n_1194244.html [Accessed 25 February 2015].
- Canadian Wheat Board Class Action (nd). Welcome to Canadian Wheat Board Class Action [online]. Ottawa: Canadian Wheat Board Class Action. Available from: http://www.cwbclassaction.ca/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Canadian Wheat Board Review Panel (B.C. Steers, Chair), 1990. *Report of the Review Panel of the Canadian Wheat Board*. Winnipeg: Canadian Wheat Board.

- Carter, C. and Loyns, A., 1998. The Federal Government and the Prairie Grain Sector: A study in over-regulation. University of Toronto, Centre for Public Management.
- CBC News, 2011. 6 things the wheat board needs to survive: Legislation coming Tuesday will 'reorganize' the Canadian Wheat Board. CBC News [online], 17 October. Available from: http://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/story/2011/10/17/pol-wheat-board-list.html [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Charlebois, S. and Langenbacher, W., 2007. Canadian Wheat Board: Keeping Canadian agriculture relevant. SIPP Policy Dialogue [online], Winter, 8-9. Available from: http://www.prairiepolicycentre.com/site/pdf/2007/CWB_article_SIPP.pdf [Accessed 21 February 2015].
- CWB Alliance, 2012. Farmers and rail workers both victimized by loss of single desk CWB [online]. Hussar: Canadian Wheat Board Alliance. Available from: http://www.cwbafacts.ca/2012/05/farmers-and-rail-workers-both-victimizedby-loss-of-single-desk-cwb [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- CWB News, 2012. CWB completes agreements with all Prairie grain handlers. CWB News [online], 7 August. Available from: http://www.cwb.ca/news/16/cwbcompletes-agreements-with-all-prairie-grain-handlers [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- CWB News, 2013. New CWB Hockey Pool allows farmers to score big. CWB News [online], 30 April. Available from: https://www.cwb.ca/news/43/new-cwbhockey-pool-allows-farmers-to-score-big [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- CWB, 2013a. CWB and Farmer Ownership [online]. Available from: https://www.cwb.ca/farmerownership [Accessed 17 September 2013].
- CWB, 2013b. Farmer Marketing Options: Programs by grain [online]. Winnipeg: Canadian Wheat Board. Available from: https://www.cwb.ca/programs-bygrain [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Dakers, S., Fréchette, J.-D., 1998. [CWB] Dates of Historical Interest. Doc. PRB 98-2E [online]. Ottawa: Library of Parliament. Available from: http://publications.gc.ca/Collection-R/LoPBdP/modules/prb98-2-grain/datese.htm [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Dales, J., 2011. MNP Releases Results of the, 2011 CWB Producer Plebiscite. Agriville.com Commodity Marketing [online], 12 September. Available from: http://www.agriville.com/cgi-bin/forums/viewThread.cgi?1315836951 [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Dawson, A., 2011. Rail Revenue Cap Changes?. Manitoba Co-operator [online], 12 May. Available from: http://www.manitobacooperator.ca/2011/05/12/railrevenue-cap-changes/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Dawson, A., 2013. Shippers suggest amendments to beef up Fair Rail Freight Service Act. Manitoba Co-operator [online], 28 March. Available from: http://www.manitobacooperator.ca/2013/03/28/shippers-suggestamendments-to-beef-up-fair-rail-freight-service-act/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Dickerson, K., 2010. 'Gag Order' Silences Wheat Board, as Supreme Court Declines to Consider the Reach of the Charter. The Constitution - Articles (University of Alberta, Centre for Constitutional Studies) [online]. Available from: http://ualawccsprod.srv.ualberta.ca/ccs/index.php/constitutional-issues/25other/86-gag-order-silences-wheat-board-as-supreme-court-declines-toconsider-the-reach-of-the-charter [Accessed 20 February 2015].

- DuPaul, R., 2013a. La spéculation, les deux tiers du problème. *La Presse [de Montréal]*, 15 April, p. 3.
- DuPaul, R., 2013b. Les spéculateurs ont perdu l'appétit. *La Presse [de Montréal]*, 15 April, p. 2-3.
- Earl, P.D., 1992. Rhetoric, Reality and Righteousness: The ideological debate between the farm Organizations and the grain trade, 1917-1935 [online]. Thesis (PhD) University of Saskatchewan. Available from:

 http://mspace.lib.umanitoba.ca/handle/1993/3702?mode=full [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Estey Commission, 1998. *Grain Handling and Transportation Review: Final Report.*Ottawa: Minister of Transport.
- Ewins, A., 1996. Precedent for plebiscite set with rapeseed vote. *The Western Producer* [online], 10 October. Available from: http://www.producer.com/1996/10/precedent-for-plebiscite-set-with-rapeseed-vote/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Financial Post, 2006. Head of Canadian Wheat Board Fired: The Conservative government made good on its threat and fired the president of the Canadian Wheat Board, Adrian Measner, for refusing to endorse an end to board's monopoly power. Financial Post [online], 19 December. Available from: http://www.canada.com/nationalpost/financialpost/story.html?id=bad52d24-660b-4cb1-9a15-919ec9693929&k=91763 [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Fine, S., 2013. Harper's nomination continues Supreme Court's shift to the right. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail* [online], 30 September. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/national/harper-nominates-marc-nadon-for-supreme-court/article14602137/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Fine, S., 2014. Latest PM court move suggests Supreme Court appointment in making. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail* [online], 13 June. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/national/pm-moves-judge-from-federal-court-to-quebec-court/article19171876/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Forsey, H. and Enoch, S., 2011. Prairie Strong No Longer? Harper's renewed attack on the Canadian Wheat Board. *Saskatchewan Notes* (Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Saskatchewan) [online], May. Available from: http://www.policyalternatives.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/publications/Saskatchewan%200ffice/2011/05/SKNOTES_Canadian_Wheat_Board_May2011.pdf [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Forsey, H., 2008. Harper Gov't Goes Against the Grain: Everyone has a stake in saving the Canadian Wheat Board. *The Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Monitor* [online], July. Available from:
 https://www.policyalternatives.ca/publications/monitor/july-2008-harper-govt-goes-against-grain [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Fowke, V.C., 1948. Royal Commissions and Canadian Agricultural Policy. *Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science*, 14 (2), 163-175.
- Friends of the CWB (nd). *Court Challenges* [online]. Available from: http://friendsofcwb.ca/battle/courtchallenges [Accessed 11 July 2013].
- Friends of the CWB, 2012. Former elected Wheat Board directors to appeal Manitoba court ruling [online]. Available from:

 http://friendsofcwb.ca/news/news-releases/92-appeal-injunction-apr3_2012
 [Accessed 11 July 2013].
- Frontier Centre for Public Policy, 2012. Grain Freight Regulation has Inhibited Productivity: Grain policies designed for bygone era. *Frontier Centre for Public Policy* [online], 25 May. Available from: https://fcpp.org/posts/grain-freight-

- regulation-has-inhibited-productivity-grain-policies-designed-for-bygone-era [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Fulton, M. and Vercammen, J., 1996. Dual Marketing and the Decisions Facing Western Canadian Farmers for Wheat and Barley Marketing: A brief to the Western Grain Marketing Panel [online]. Available from: http://usaskstudies.coop/pdf-files/WGMP-Fulton.pdf [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Fulton, M., 2006. The Canadian Wheat Board in an Open Market: The impact of removing the single-desk selling powers [online]. Available from: http://www.kis.usask.ca/pdfs/Publications/CWB_Open_Market_Fulton.pdf [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Fulton, M., 2011. Challenges Facing the Grain Handling and Transportation System in Western Canada in a Post Canadian Wheat Board Environment, Working Paper, November, 2011 [online]. Saskatoon: Johnson-Shoyama Graduate School of Public Policy. Available from: http://www.schoolofpublicpolicy.sk.ca/_documents/_publications_reports/wor king_paper_series/WPS7_MFulton_NOVEMBER2011.pdf [Accessed 21 February 2015].
- Furtan, W.H. and van Melle, B.M., 2004. Canada's Agricultural Trade in North America: Do national borders matter?. Review of Agricultural Economics, 26 (3), 317-331.
- Furtan, W.H., 2005. Transformative Change in Agriculture: The Canadian Wheat Board. Estey Centre Journal of International Law and Trade Policy, 6 (2), 95-107.
- Galloway, G., 2011. Wheat Board bill gets pre-screening and debate limit in Senate. The [Toronto] Globe and Mail [online], 18 November. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/politics/ottawa-notebook/wheatboard-bill-gets-pre-screening-and-debate-limit-in-senate/article2242033/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Gislason, C., 1959. How Much Has the Canadian Wheat Board Cost the Canadian Farmers?. Journal of Farm Economics, 41 (3), 584-599.
- GlencoreXstrata, 2013. History [online]. Available from: http://www.glencorexstrata.com/about-us/history/ [20 September 2013].
- Goodloe, C., 2004. The Canadian Wheat Board: Government guarantees and hidden subsidies?. Estey Centre Journal of International Law and Trade Policy, 5 (2), 102-122.
- Government of Manitoba, 2007. Flawed federal barley vote delivers no mandate to eliminate single desk: Wowchuck. NewsRelease (Manitoba Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives) [online], 28 March. Available from: http://news.gov.mb.ca/news/print,index.html?item=1387 [Accessed 20] February 2015].
- Gray, R., Ulrich, A. and Schmitz, A., 1993. A Continental Barley Market: Where are the gains?. Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics, 41 (3), 257-270.
- Gruending, D., 2012. Viterra kills Sask Wheat Pool legacy. DenisGruending.com [online], 1 April. Available from: http://www.dennisgruending.ca/2012/04/viterra-kills-sask-wheat-pool-legacy/ [Accessed 21 February 2015].
- Haney, S., 2010. CWB Election, 2010 = Boring!!!. Real Agriculture [online], 26 November. Available from: http://www.realagriculture.com/2010/11/cwbelection-2010-boring/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].

157 ISSN: 2079-5971

Oñati Socio-legal Series, v. 5, n. 1 (2015), 135-161

- Hill, T., 2012. The Dictatorship of Stephen Harper. Global Free Press [online], 21 March. Available from:
 http://www.globalfreepress.org/contributors/canada/trevor-hill/3217-the-dictatorship-of-stephen-harper [Accessed 21 February 2015].
- Irwin, R., 2001. Farmers and 'Orderly Marketing': The making of the Canadian Wheat Board. *Prairie Forum*, 26 (1), 85-105.
- Lagassé, P., 2012. Parliamentary and judicial ambivalence towards executive prerogative powers in Canada. *Canadian Public Administration*, 55 (2), 157-180.
- Larson, G.H and Erdman, H.E., 1962. Aaron Sapiro: Genius of farm co-operative promotion. *Mississippi Valley Historical Review*, 49 (2), 242-268.
- Leclair, J., 2013. Harper méprise nos institutions. *La Presse [de Montréal]*, 29 October, p. A19.
- Levine, A., 1987. Open Market or 'Orderly Marketing': The Winnipeg Grain Exchange and the Wheat Pools, 1923-1929. *Agricultural History*, 61 (2), 50-69.
- Macpherson, I., 1986. Missionaries of Rural Development: The fieldman of the Saskatchewan Wheat Pool, 1925-1965. *Agricultural History*, 60 (2), 73-96.
- Malloy, J., 2004. The Executive and Parliament in Canada. *Journal of Legislative Studies*, 10 (2/3), 206-217.
- Mayes, B., 2002. Blame Canada: American trade complaints against the Canadian Wheat Board. *Asper Review of International Business and Trade Law*, 2, 135-156.
- McClearn, M., 2013. Forward, Fast: Hunter Harrison's CP transformation. *Canadian Business* [online], 23 April. Available from:
 http://www.canadianbusiness.com/companies-and-industries/forward-fast/
 [Accessed 21 February 2015].
- McMordie, M., 1988. Grain Elevators. *In*: *The Canadian Encyclopedia*. 2nd ed. Edmonton: Hurtig, 921.
- Menzies, M.W., 1949. *The Canadian Wheat Board: A study in the development of Canadian agricultural policies* [online]. Thesis (M.A.) University of Saskatchewan. Available from: http://ecommons.usask.ca/handle/10388/etd-08122010-132028 [Accessed 21 February 2015].
- Millar Commission, 1908. Report of the Royal Commission on the Grain Trade of Canada. Ottawa: King's Printer.
- Nickel, R., 2011. Canada grain sector faces sea change after Wheat Board. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail* [online], 23 November. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/canada-grain-sector-faces-sea-change-after-wheat-board/article2246346/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Nickel, R., 2012. Wheat board aims to pool a third of Western Canadian grains. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail* [online], 23 May. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/industry-news/energy-and-resources/wheat-board-aims-to-pool-a-third-of-western-canadian-grains/article2404041/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Oleson, B., 2002. Governance and the CWB: The 'Steers' Report. Farmers

 Independent Weekly [online]. Available from:

 http://www.umanitoba.ca/afs/fiw/021212.html [Accessed 17 October 2012].

- Parkinson, R., 2005. The Canadian Wheat Board. Maple Leaf Web (Dept. of Political Science, University of Lethbridge) [online], 25 October. Available from: http://www.rhondaparkinson.com/canadian-wheat-board.htm [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Parliamentary Information and Research Service, 2008. Bill C-46: An Act to amend the Canadian Wheat Board Act and Chapter 17 of the Statutes of Canada, 1998, Legislative Summary LS-599E [online]. Ottawa: Library of Parliament. Available from: http://www.parl.gc.ca/About/Parliament/LegislativeSummaries/bills_ls.asp?ls =c46&Parl=39&Ses=2 [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Patton, H.S., 1937. Observations on Canadian Wheat Policy since the World War. Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science, 3 (2), 218-233.
- Payton, L., 2012. Harper pardons farmers arrested under old wheat board law: Prime Minister Stephen Harper in Saskatchewan to celebrate end of Canadian Wheat Board monopoly. CBC News [online], 1 August. Available from: http://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/story/2012/08/01/pol-wheat-boardmonopoly-over.html [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Pitts, G., 2011. Canada's Prairie agricultural economy prepares for a seismic shift. The [Toronto] Globe and Mail [online], 10 September. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/canadas-prairieagricultural-economy-prepares-for-a-seismic-shift/article2160324/ [Accessed 21 February 2015].
- Polansek, T., 2013. CBOT [Chicago Board of Trade] set to shorten U.S. grain trading day: Markets to remain open during key agricultural reports. Canadian Cattlemen [online], 1 April. Available from: http://www.canadiancattlemen.ca/news/cbot-set-to-shorten-u-s-graintrading-day/1002178555/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Prime Minister of Canada, 2013. PM announces judicial appointments for British Columbia, Ontario and Saskatchewan, 7 June [online]. Ottawa: Prime Minister of Canada. Available from: http://www.pm.gc.ca/eng/news/2013/06/07/pmannounces-judicial-appointments-british-columbia-ontario-and-saskatchewan [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Russell, F., 2011. Harper an autocrat, not democrat. Winnipeg Free Press [online], 20 April, p. A12. Available from: http://www.winnipegfreepress.com/opinion/columnists/harper-an-autocratnot-democrat-120264609.html [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Santos, J.M., 2010. Going against the Grain: Why do Canada and the United States market wheat so differently?. American Review of Canadian Studies, 40 (1), 104-117.
- Savoie, D.J., 1999. Governing from the Centre: The concentration of power in Canadian Politics. University of Toronto Press.
- Silcoff, S., 2012. Big payday awaits Viterra executives. The [Toronto] Globe and Mail [online], 20 March. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/globe-investor/big-payday-awaits-viterraexecutives/article2375617/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Skogstad, G., 2005. The Dynamics of Institutional Transformation: The case of the Canadian Wheat Board. Canadian Journal of Political Science, 38 (3), 529-548.
- Smith, D., 1971. Presidents and Parliament: The transformation of parliamentary government in Canada. In: T.A. Hockin, ed. Apex of Power: The Prime Minister and political leadership in Canada. Scarborough: Prentice-Hall, 224-241.

- Sorensen, C., 2011. CP's railway to riches?: With a big U.S. investor on board, CP faces a boardroom battle as it rushes to catch rival CN. *Maclean's Magazine* [online], 16 November. Available from: http://www2.macleans.ca/2011/11/16/railway-to-riches/#more-224515 [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Stamp Commission, 1931. Report of the Commission to Enquire into Trading in Grain Futures. Ottawa: King's Printer.
- Stewart, S. and Waldie, P., 2008. The Byzantine World of Food Prices: How big money is wreaking havoc. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail*, 31 May, pp. B1-B7.
- Taber, J., 2011. Liberals want Governor-General to block Tory wheat-board legislation. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail* [online], 12 December. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/politics/ottawa-notebook/liberals-want-governor-general-to-block-tory-wheat-board-legislation/article2267951/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Tamini, L.D., Gervais J.-P. and Larue, B., 2010. The Value of the Initial Payment of the Canadian Wheat Board as a Signaling Device. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 92 (1), 42–55.
- The Economist, 2013a. Marc Rich, king of commodities, died on June 26th, aged 78. *The Economist* [online], 6 July. Available from: http://www.economist.com/news/obituary/21580438-marc-rich-king-commodities-died-june-26th-aged-78-marc-rich [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- The Economist, 2013b. Pacific turnaround: A foreign boss is making an iconic railroad newly competitive. *The Economist* [online], 9 March. Available from: http://www.economist.com/news/business/21573173-foreign-boss-making-iconic-railroad-newly-competitive-pacific-turnaround [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Waldie, P., 2012a. Farmers see danger in expanded grain trading hours. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail* [online], 21 May. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/international-business/us-business/farmers-see-danger-in-expanded-grain-trading-hours/article4198129/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Waldie, P., 2012b. Grain firms prepare for a boom from Wheat Board's demise. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail* [online], 11 January. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/globe-investor/grain-firms-prepare-for-a-boom-from-wheat-boards-demise/article2298854/ [Accessed 21 February 2015].
- Ward, J., 2011. Conservatives to invoke closure on Wheat Board in Senate. *The [Toronto] Globe and Mail* [online], 08 December. Available from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/politics/conservatives-to-invoke-closure-on-wheat-board-bill-in-senate/article2265011 [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- Western Grains Research Foundation (nd). *Endowment Fund* [online]. Saskatoon: Western Grains Research Foundation. Available from: http://westerngrains.com/endowment-fund/rail-cap-revenue/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].
- White, G., 2008. 'The Centre' of the Democratic Deficit? Power and influence on Canadian political executives. *In: Conference on "Comparing the Democratic Deficit in Canada and the United States, Harvard University* [online]. Available from:
 - http://dev.wcfia.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/Democratic%20Deficit%20White.pdf [Accessed 20 February 2015].

161

Wilson, B., 2013. 'Stirling defence' not necessarily smartest way to draft legislation. *The Western Producer* [online], 21 June. Available from: http://www.producer.com/2013/06/stirling-defence-not-necessarily-smartest-

way-to-draft-legislation/ [Accessed 20 February 2015].